STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NATHANIEL WITHERSPOON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001440

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by instructing the jury that the alleged victim's testimony did not have to be corroborated since this was an impermissible charge on the facts and prejudicial?

2.

Whether the court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on assault and battery in the first degree pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 16-3-600 (C)(1) as a lesser-included or lesser offense of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree since the facts of this case justified charging this statutory subsection in the same manner as ABHAN?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Charleston County Grand Jury for the offenses of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree and burglary in the first degree. R. p. 347-352. His case was called to trial on June 19, 2013 before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, and a jury. Andrew Grimes and Christina Parnell represented appellant. Timothy Finch and Elizabeth Riddle were the assistant solicitors. R. p. 1 - 2.

On June 21, 2013 the jury found appellant guilty on both counts. R. p. 334, ll. 9-25. Judge Jefferson sentenced appellant to eighteen years imprisonment, concurrent, on the two counts. R. p. 345, l. 22 – 346, l. 3.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by instructing the jury that the alleged victim's testimony did not have to be corroborated since this was an impermissible charge on the facts and prejudicial.

Relevant Facts

The alleged victim, Sharon R., was sixty-four years old at the time of the incident on October 24, 2011. R. p. 26, ll. 9-12. She lived in an apartment in North Charleston. R. p. 27, ll. 7-9. She was legally blind because of cataracts. R. p. 28, ll. 1-9.

Ms. R. admitted that she regularly used crack cocaine. One of the men who often came by her apartment to do crack cocaine was nicknamed "New York". R. p. 29, l. 11 – 30, l. 13. Ms. R. remembered that New York had come by the night before or the night of the incident. R. p. 29, ll. 8 -16.

She testified that she was laying down watching television because she could not sleep. She thought she heard her cat scratching at the door to be let into the apartment. She went to the door and there was a man standing there. He was "very soft-spoken." R. p. 30, l. 17 – 33, l. 6.

The man asked to use the phone claiming his car had "broken down." She agreed to let him use the phone. While she walked to get the phone "he grabbed me around the throat and started dragging me to the bedroom I was doing everything I could to get help, to get away from him. And he grabbed me by my hair, pulled me down, and he started beating me in the face. And I kept hollering, you know, for somebody to help me. And finally he looked at me very soft-spoken, and he says, I have a knife. *I don't remember anything after that. Except looking around and looking for something to put on.*" She stated she then went

to her neighbor's house across the street and the neighbor called 911. I told her I'd been attacked and raped. I mean, I was raped." R. p. 30, l. 17 – 33, l. 6. (emphasis added).

Ms. R. admitted she had no idea who the person was that assaulted her. She told a detective she thought it could either be a dark-skinned white guy or a black man. R. p. 45, l. 15 – 46, l. 9. She also said it could have been "maybe an Italian guy." R. p. 46, ll. 21-22.

She admitted she had friends who came over to her apartment to "get me high" on crack cocaine. R. p. 52, ll. 15-20. She named "Cooper, a guy named New York, and ...a friend of mine named Pam" as recent partakers. R. p. 52, ll. 15-20.

Jill Farman was an investigator with the North Charleston Police Department. R. p. 86, l. 21- 87, l. 14. She remembered that Sharon R. had been in the emergency room and had dried blood on her and she had other injuries as well. R. p. 88, l. 17 – 89, l. 2. The included a scratch around her neck, and "some redness there." R. p. 89, ll. 8-14. Farman described her as "exhausted."

Farman also related that Sharon R. she thought a dark-skinned white male or an Italian or maybe light-skinned black male may have been her attacker. R. p. 90, l. 3 – 92, l.1. Ms. R. also told Farman that "New York" had been there the night before and they were smoking crack. R. p. 92, l. 13 – 93, l. 24.

Farman admitted that appellant having a consensual sexual relationship with the alleged victim would be "an option to explain why his [appellant's DNA] was there, yes." R. p. 104, l. 20 – 105, l. 16. However, Farman refused to admit that that a consensual sexual relationship would have changed her evaluation of this case – evidentially that she thought appellant was guilty. R. p. 111, l. 23 - 112, l. 2. Farman admitted that she understood appellant was very cooperative with the police. R. p. 126, ll. 2-5.

Janet Ward was a sexual assault nurse at MUSC. R. p. 129, ll. 11-19. She remembered that Sharon R. reported to the emergency room with injuries. R. p. 138, l. 25 – 140, l. 2. Ward acknowledged that she was told by Ms. R. that she had not done drugs or drank alcohol within the last seventy-two hours. That obviously was not true. R. p. 145, l. 23 – 146, l. 1.

Catherine Leisy of SLED testified that appellant had a DNA match on the external genital swabs of Sharon R. On another swab appellant could not be excluded as a possible “contributor.” R. p. 153, ll. 16-24; 160, l. 3 – 161, l. 17.

Officer Matt Lawless of the North Charleston Police Department was responding to a “shots fired” call unrelated to this case when he found a cell phone with the name “N. Witherspoon on the screen. The phone no longer had service.” Lawless estimated this was “about a mile away” from the alleged victim’s apartment. R. p. 77, l. 10 – 80, l. 21. The import of this was the phone Lawless found that it was the alleged victim’s phone stolen by her attacker. R. p. 34, l. 23 – 35, l. 1; R. p. 79, ll. 20-25.

During the defense case, Tammy Stiles testified that she had often seen appellant, whom she had known for over twenty years, at the alleged victim’s apartment. She said he was there “just about every time I went there.” Stiles testified that appellant and Ms. R. were doing sexual favors “for one another.” She said the alleged victim readily admitted her sexual relationship with appellant. R. p. 215, l. 6 – 219, l. 7.

Derrick Felder also testified that he knew that appellant and the alleged victim did drugs together at her apartment, and that they were having an ongoing sexual relationship. R. p. 228, ll. 7-25.

Charge Conference

Defense counsel Grimes objected to the judge's intention to instruct the jury that "the victim's testimony does not need to be corroborated; [it] is a comment on the facts." The judge said the Legislature had decided "in its province that a CSC victim's testimony does not have to be corroborated. And that is the law..." R. p. 251, ll. 10-20.

Grimes said that if the judge was going to charge it he was preserving the issue for appeal. The judge responded: "Knock yourself out." R. p. 251, l. 13 – 252, l. 5. Defense counsel cited the dissent in State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 631 S.E.2d 244 (2006), for his contention that this jury instruction was not proper, and was a charge on the facts. R. p. 251, l. 14 – 254, l. 12; R. p. 275, l. 2 – 276, l. 11. Over objection the judge charged that pursuant to the statute "the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated." R. p. 326, ll. 9-14.

Discussion

As seen, the alleged victim in this case could not identify her attacker. The state's case against the appellant was circumstantial. Appellant presented evidence that he had an ongoing sexual relationship with the alleged victim. The defense strongly contended therefore that his DNA was found on the alleged victim was essentially meaningless. "And how do we know the DNA did not come from the assailant," Defense counsel asked the jury, "The assailant didn't ejaculate in her . . . Just brushed up against and it might be touch be touch DNA that's left there. That might be why it's weaker than Mr. Witherspoon's. R. p. 291, l. 8 – 294, l. 14. The other circumstantial evidence involved the alleged victim's cell phone.

It is apparent that the alleged victim lied at the emergency about her crack cocaine use. It is clear that the use of crack cocaine can strongly alter a person's perceptions and their ability to reason.

The jury instruction that the alleged victim's testimony did not need to be corroborated was especially prejudicial in this case given the alleged description of her attacker as being an Italian man, "a dark-skinned white guy or a black man." Appellant was a black man. "Doesn't that rule out Nathaniel by itself?," defense counsel asked.

The jury instruction in this case on the alleged victim's testimony does not need to be corroborated gives special status to an alleged victim of a criminal sexual assault that the victim of no other crime receives. Defense counsel correctly argued this jury instruction was an impermissible charge on the facts.

In State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 631 S.E.2d 244 (2006), the Supreme Court held that a judge could, but was not required to, charge South Carolina Code Section 16-3-657 that the alleged victim's testimony need not be corroborated. In Rayfield the defendant argued the jury instruction was a charge on the facts and it carried the strong possibility of unfairly biasing the jury against the defendant. It further improperly, and obviously, emphasized the testimony of one witness, the alleged victim, against others. See State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 280, 298, 715 S.E.2d 368, 378 (Ct. App. 2011).

The dissenters in State v. Rayfield noted this jury instruction did not assist the jury in fulfilling its function of deciding whether the state had proven the charges beyond a reasonable doubt. It created more problems than it solved, and the jury instruction was confusing as a whole.

As stated above, appellant is not aware of any other jury instruction that favors the testimony of a single witness over all others. Defense counsel correctly argued the instruction was a charge on the facts. See State v. Bagwell, 201 S.C. 387, 392, 23 S.E.2d 244, 249 (1942) (similar instruction on “uncorroborated” statements of accomplices should be received with caution and scrutinized by the jury with great caution was a charge on the facts which violated the State Constitution).

The purpose of the statute is to change the law that a rape charge need to be corroborated **when the trial judge** is determining whether to grant a directed verdict. It is **not a jury charge**.

The alleged victim in this case, as stated above, did not recognize her attacker, and her drug use, and her failure to be honest about her drug use at times, made her testimony very suspect. Appellant presented evidence that he was often at the appellant’s apartment, where they did drugs together, and that were having an ongoing consensual sexual relationship. The state’s case against appellant was circumstantial; the defense provided an appellant explained the DNA evidence. The jury instruction that the shaky testimony of the alleged victim did not need to be corroborated was highly prejudicial in this case, and it constituted reversible error.

The court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on assault and battery in the first degree pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 16-3-600 (C)(1) as a lesser-included or lesser offense of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree since the facts of this case justified charging this statutory subsection in the same manner as ABHAN.

Relevant Facts

Defense counsel asked that the judge to charge the “new statute” on assault and battery in the first degree as a lesser-included offense of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree. He argued while technically it might not meet the elements test of being a lesser-included offense of CSC in the first degree that the judge should consider it as being similar to ABHAN, being a lesser-included offense of sexual crimes. R. p. 254, l. 13 – 256, l. 12.

The solicitor argued he did not think it was a lesser-included offense. The judge then went through the elements of South Carolina Code Section 16-3-600 (C)(1) which were that the person who committed that offense unlawfully injured another person during an act involving non-consensual touching of their private parts, either under or above their clothing. The perpetrator did so with lewd and lascivious intent, and he committed the offense during the commission of another crime, including, as here, burglary. R. p. 259, l. 25 – 261, l. 7.

Defense counsel Grimes argued that the facts of this case almost mirrored the elements of the assault and battery in the first-degree offense. The judge ultimately refused to charge assault and battery in the first degree. R. p. 262, l. 19 – 270, l. 12; R. p. 275, ll. 3-9.

Discussion

South Carolina Code Section 16-3-600 (C)(1) provides:

A person commits the offense of sexual and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully:

- (a) injures another person, and the act:
 - (i) involves nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person, either under or above clothing, with lewd and lascivious intent; or
 - (ii) occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft.

Defense counsel correctly argued that the lesser offense should have been charged in this case. There was evidence alleged victim was injured, and she maintained that she had been sexually molested or raped. She did not remember what happened after he attacker grabbed her, and the solicitor admitted she not identify him. The state also charged appellant with burglary in the first degree, coupled with the CSC in the first-degree offense.

No forensic evidence demonstrated penetration to the exclusion of any other factual scenario. Defense counsel correctly argued that even if the assault and battery in the first-degree offense was not a lesser-included offense under the elements test, it still should have been instructed consistent with the Supreme Court's framework of ABHAN being a lesser-included offense criminal sexual conduct cases.

In State v. Elliott, 346 S.C. 603, 607, 552 S.E.2d 727, 729 (2001), the Supreme Court held that charging ABHAN as a lesser-included offense of criminal sexual conduct was proper. The Court noted that the Legislature in enacting new legislation was presumed to know the common law and that common law did not "always fit into neat categories we

might prefer.” The Court found “compelling reasons not to abandon its long-standing inclusion of ABHAN of a lesser-included offense of attempted battery crimes.” Id. 552 S.E.2d at 729.

The same is true here as defense counsel argued. The present offense of assault and battery in the first degree is a result of “new” legislation first enacted in 2010. South Carolina Code Section 16-3-600 (C)(1), mirrors one consistent version of the offense and evidence in this case. Defense counsel correctly analogized it to ABHAN in arguing why it should have been instructed in this case. The trial court erred by refusing to charge this lesser or lesser-included offense given the facts of this case.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing arguments, appellant's conviction should be reversed and this case remanded to the Charleston County Court of General Sessions for a new trial.