ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-001440

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

NATHANIEL WITHERSPOON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

O.T. Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 26 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge committed no reversible error in instructing the jury on S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657, which states the testimony of the victim does not need to be corroborated, because that statutory language constituted a correct statement of law in South Carolina, that language was not unduly emphasized during the trial judge's jury instructions, and those jury instructions as a whole correctly conveyed the relevant and applicable law to the jury.

Appellant contends the trial judge committed reversible error by instructing the jury on the statutory non-corroboration language of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the giving of an instruction based on Section 16-3-657 constitutes an impermissible comment on the facts. To the contrary, the trial judge's presentation of the statutory non-corroboration language, which was only referenced a single time during the jury instructions, did not constitute a comment on the facts and, instead, was a proper statement of the applicable South Carolina law relevant to Appellant's case. Furthermore, the trial judge properly and completely instructed the jurors on the State's burden of proof, their duties in evaluating the credibility of the witnesses, and their duties to act as the sole judges of the facts while specifically cautioning the jurors they should not interpret any of her remarks as a comment on the facts of the case. Under those circumstances, the trial judge's decision to instruct the jury on Section 16-3-657, which provides the testimony of the victim does not need to be corroborated, was not improper and did not constitute reversible error in Appellant's case. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

The purpose of a trial judge's jury instructions is "to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict." State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). When instructing a jury on the law, a trial judge is required to charge only

the current and correct law of South Carolina. State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 2 (2003). In doing so, a trial judge is only required to instruct the jury on the substance of the law and does not have to use any particular verbiage. State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). A trial judge's jury charge is appropriate if it is substantially correct and adequately covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996); see State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003) ("A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.").

In reviewing a trial judge's jury instructions for error, the appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009); see Todd v. State, 355 S.C. 396, 402, 585 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2003) ("[J]ury charges should be examined in their entirety and not in isolation in analyzing whether the defendant's due process rights have been violated."). When reviewing the trial judge's jury instructions, the appropriate test involves determining what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 664, 594 S.E.2d 462, 474 (2004). So long as the jury instructions presented are substantially correct and cover the applicable law, reversal is not warranted. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) ("A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal."); see also State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 123, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007) ("A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.").

One particular provision of law enacted by the legislature in South Carolina is Section 16-3-657, which states "[t]he testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in

prosecutions under [Sections] 16-3-652 through 16-3-658.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657. In enacting that provision, the legislature recognized “crimes involving criminal sexual conduct fall within a unique category of offenses against the person” in which the only evidence that can frequently be presented due to the lack of eyewitnesses or other evidence is the uncorroborated testimony of the victim or the assailant. State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 117, 631 S.E.2d 244, 250 (2006). For that reason, the legislature “decided it is reasonable and appropriate in criminal sexual conduct cases to make abundantly clear – not only to the judge **but also to the jury** – that a defendant may be convicted solely on the basis of a victim’s testimony.” Id. (emphasis added).

In the case sub judice, the trial judge committed no error in instructing the jury on the non-corroboration language from Section 16-3-657, which unquestionably constituted a correct statement of the law in South Carolina, because that instruction was not unduly emphasized during the trial judge’s jury charge and the jury charge as a whole correctly relayed the relevant and applicable law to the jury. See id. at 117-118, 631 S.E.2d at 250 (“A trial judge is not required to charge § 16-3-657, but when the judge chooses to do so, giving the charge does not constitute reversible error when this single instruction is not unduly emphasized and the charge as a whole comports with the law.”); see also Sheppard, 357 S.C. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 472-473 (“A jury charge is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole.”). Critically, in instructing the jury on the law in Appellant’s case, the trial judge only instructed the jury on the statutory non-corroboration language a single time during the course of the entire jury charge. See State v. Orozco, 392 S.C. 212, 224, 708 S.E.2d 227, 233 (Ct. App. 2011) (“[T]he *only* charge given by the trial court in regard to the corroboration of the victims’ testimony was that ‘in South Carolina the testimony of a victim need not be corroborated

for prosecution in a criminal sexual conduct case.’ Thus, this single instruction was not unduly emphasized.” (italics in original)). Furthermore, the trial judge correctly explained the State’s burden of proof to the jurors, thoroughly identified the factors relevant to the assessment of a witness’ credibility to the jurors, specifically informed the jurors they could accept a single witness’ testimony over the testimony of multiple witnesses or the testimony of multiple witnesses over a single witness’ testimony, and directly cautioned the jurors she had no opinion on the facts of the case and they should not consider anything she said as a comment on the facts. Cf. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 509, 435 S.E.2d 859, 863 (1993) (finding the trial judge committed no reversible error in instructing the jury on the non-corroboration language when “[t]he trial judge properly charged the jury it could believe any single witness over several, it was the sole judge of the facts, he had no opinion about those facts, and the State had the burden of proving the offense charged beyond a reasonable doubt”). Under those circumstances, the trial judge’s jury instructions provided the jury with the correct legal basis upon which to render a decision in Appellant’s case and did not constitute reversible error. See Burkhart, 350 S.C. at 263, 565 S.E.2d at 304 (instructing there is no reversible error when the jury instructions given “afford the proper test for determining the issues”)

In arguing the trial judge’s jury instructions warrant the reversal of his convictions, Appellant contends the trial judge’s presentation of the non-corroboration language to the jury constituted an impermissible comment on the facts of his case and improperly “favor[ed] the testimony of a single witness over all others.”⁷ (App. Br. pp.

⁷ In seeking a reversal of his conviction on appeal, Appellant also contends: “The purpose of the [non-corroboration] statute is to change the law that a rape charge need to be corroborated **when the trial judge** is determining whether to grant a directed verdict. It is **not a jury charge**.” (App. Br. p. 10) (emphasis in

9-10). However, in instructing the jury on the non-corroboration language, the trial judge prefaced her remarks by specifically stating the non-corroboration language was derived from Section 16-3-657, which clearly conveyed to the jury the non-corroboration language was a legal principle taken from a statute and was not a personal statement of the trial judge's views on the facts or the weight of the evidence. See generally State v. Bell, 305 S.C. 11, 16, 406 S.E.2d 165, 168 (1991) (“The test to determine the propriety of the trial judge's charge is what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean.”). Thus, contrary to Appellant's contentions, the trial judge did not impermissibly comment on the facts by instructing the jury on Section 16-3-657, which correctly states the testimony of the victim does not need to be corroborated. However, even assuming that instruction could have somehow been misconstrued as a statement of the trial judge's beliefs on the facts of Appellant's case, the trial judge's instructions both at the beginning of trial and during the jury charge clearly dispelled any such misconception because the trial judge specifically explained to the jurors she had no opinion on the facts and any statement she made that could be construed as a comment on the facts had to be disregarded. See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590, n. 1, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1999) (“A jury is presumed to follow instructions.”); State v. Grovenstein, 335 S.C. 347, 353, 517 S.E.2d 216, 219 (1999) (“[J]urors are presumed to follow the law as instructed to them.”);

original). However, as our Supreme Court has previously explained, the legislature intended for the non-corroboration language of Section 16-3-657 to do “much more” than prevent trial courts or appellate courts from finding the testimony of a sexual assault victim to be insufficient to support a conviction simply because the testimony was not corroborated. See Rayfield, 369 S.C. at 117, 631 S.E.2d at 250 (“Section 16-3-657 prevents trial or appellate courts from finding a lack of sufficient evidence to support a conviction simply because the alleged victim's testimony is not corroborated. However, § 16-3-657 **does much more**. In enacting this statute, the Legislature recognized that crimes involving criminal sexual conduct fall within a unique category of offenses against the person. In many cases, the only witnesses to a rape or sexual assault are the perpetrator and the victim. An investigation may or may not reveal physical or forensic evidence identifying a particular perpetrator. The Legislature has decided it is reasonable and appropriate in criminal sexual conduct cases to make abundantly clear – not only to the judge but also to the jury – that a defendant may be convicted solely on the basis of a victim's testimony.” (emphasis added))

State v. Queen, 264 S.C. 515, 521, 216 S.E.2d 182, 185 (1975) (“It is the duty of jurors to take the law from the court in the particular case on trial. It must be presumed that they do so.”). Because the trial judge’s jury instructions constituted a correct and complete statement of the law in South Carolina without impermissibly commenting on the facts of Appellant’s case or unduly emphasizing the statutory non-corroboration language, the trial judge committed no reversible error in instructing the jury on the law. Cf. State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 280, 299, 715 S.E.2d 368, 379 (Ct. App. 2011) (“[T]he single instruction on ‘no corroboration,’ was not unduly emphasized, and the charge as a whole comported with the law, such that there was no reversible error in the ‘no corroboration’ charge.”); Orozco, 392 S.C. at 224, 708 S.E.2d at 233 (holding the trial judge committed no reversible error in instructing the jury on the non-corroboration language where that language was not unduly emphasized and the trial judge’s jury charge as a whole properly instructed the jury on the law). Accordingly, Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge properly declined to instruct the jury on the statutory offense of first-degree assault and battery because that offense is not a lesser-included offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct and, even if it somehow was, was not supported by the facts and evidence presented during trial.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in declining to instruct the jury on the statutory offense of first-degree assault and battery. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains first-degree assault and battery should be considered to be a lesser-included offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct in light of the fact the common law offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature has previously been found to be a lesser-included offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct. Furthermore, Appellant maintains the facts of his case justified a charge on first-degree assault and battery as a lesser-included offense. Contrary to Appellant's contentions, first-degree assault and battery is not a lesser-included offense in light of the fact first-degree criminal sexual conduct does **not** include all of the elements of first-degree assault and battery. Moreover, first-degree assault and battery is not a lesser-included offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct in light of the fact the legislature elected not to recognize it as such. Therefore, the trial judge properly declined to instruct the jury on first-degree assault and battery in Appellant's case. However, even assuming first-degree assault and battery was a lesser-included offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct, the trial judge still nonetheless properly declined to instruct the jury on first-degree assault and battery because the testimony and evidence presented during trial did not support such a charge. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). "No instruction

should be given by the trial judge, at the request of the appellant, which tenders an issue which is not presented or supported by the evidence.” State v. Weaver, 265 S.C. 130, 137, 217 S.E.2d 31, 34 (1975). “Ordinarily, the trial court has the duty to give requested instructions which correctly state the law applicable to the issues and which are supported by the evidence.” State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996). The trial court only commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 838, 849 (1993).

In instructing the jury on the law, “[a] trial judge is required to charge the jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed.” State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 289, 724 S.E.2d 664, 674 (2012). Generally, pursuant to the elements test, an offense is a lesser-included offense of a greater offense if the greater offense includes all of the elements of the lesser-included offense. State v. Primus, 349 S.C. 576, 579-580, 564 S.E.2d 103, 105 (2002), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 563 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). However, “[i]f the lesser offense includes an element which is not included in the greater offense, then the lesser offense is **not** included in the greater offense.” Id. at 580, 564 S.E.2d at 105 (emphasis added). In determining whether an offense is a lesser-included offense of another, courts in South Carolina typically apply the elements test to make that determination with few exceptions. See id. (“While the Court recognizes the existence of a few anomalies, it generally adheres to the use of the traditional elements test.”).

Importantly though, even if an offense is a lesser-included offense of another offense, the trial judge is only required to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense

when the evidence could support an inference the defendant is guilty of **only** the lesser-included offense and not the greater offense. State v. Lambright, 279 S.C. 535, 537, 309 S.E.2d 7, 8 (1983). “It is well settled that a jury instruction on a lesser included offense is required only when the evidence warrants such an instruction.” State v. Coleman, 342 S.C. 172, 175, 536 S.E.2d 387, 389 (Ct. App. 2000). “The mere contention that the jury might accept the State’s evidence in part and reject it in part is insufficient to satisfy the requirement that some evidence tend to show the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense.” State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 608, 635 S.E.2d 669, 674 (Ct. App. 2006).

In the case at bar, the trial judge committed no error in declining to instruct the jury on the offense of first-degree assault and battery because that crime was not a lesser-included offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct. Furthermore, even if first-degree assault and battery somehow was a lesser-included offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct, the trial judge still committed no error in declining to instruct the jury on that offense because the evidence presented during trial would not have supported a conclusion Appellant was guilty of only the lesser-included offense and not the greater offense.

Initially, looking to the elements of the offenses, first-degree criminal sexual conduct does **not** include all of the elements of first-degree assault and battery. Compare S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-652(1) (defining first-degree criminal sexual conduct, which requires proof the actor committed a sexual battery along with proof of one or more of the following circumstances: (1) the actor used aggravated force; (2) the victim submitted to the sexual battery under circumstances where the victim is also the victim of forcible confinement, kidnapping, trafficking in persons, robbery, extortion, burglary, housebreaking, or any other similar offense or act; or (3) the actor caused the victim to

become mentally incapacitated or physically helpless through the use of a controlled substance, controlled substance analogue, or intoxicating substance); with S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(1) (defining first-degree assault and battery, which requires proof: (1) the actor injured another through nonconsensual touching of the private parts with lewd and lascivious intent or during the course of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft; or (2) the actor offered or attempted to injure another person with the present ability to do so by a means likely to produce death or great bodily injury or during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft). As a result, first-degree assault and battery is not a lesser-included offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct under the elements test. See Knox v. State, 340 S.C. 81, 85, 530 S.E.2d 887, 889 (2000) (“A lesser offense is included in the greater only if each of its elements is *always* a necessary element of the greater offense.” (italics in original)), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 563 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Recognizing that fact, defense counsel conceded during trial first-degree assault and battery was not a lesser-included offense pursuant to the elements test while arguing it should nonetheless be considered as one due to the fact it was similar to the common law offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, which – prior to its abolition through the passage of the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act of 2010 – had traditionally been considered to be a lesser-included offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct. See Primus, 349 S.C. at 581, 564 S.E.2d at 106 (“[E]mploying the traditional elements test, ABHAN is not a lesser-included offense of first degree CSC. Nevertheless, the Court most recently determined that because it had consistently held ABHAN is a lesser included offense of assault with intent to commit CSC, it would continue this ruling even though the two offenses failed the traditional

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